IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1382

STEVEN RICHARD TAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

Lower Tribunal Case No. 1991 CF 002456

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael P. Reiter 5313 Layton Drive Venice, FL 34293 Fla. Bar #0320234 Attorney for Appellant (941) 445-5782

PRELIMENARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF CASE

Taylor was indicted for murder, burglary, and sexual battery by a grand jury in Duval County, Florida, in 1991 (R 5-7, 78-80). Taylor was found guilty after a jury trial (R 797-98). Taylor's jury recommended a sentence of death (R 879). On December 9, 1991 the Court sentenced Taylor to death as to the first-degree murder conviction (R 905).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Taylor's convictions and sentences. Taylor v. State, 630 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1993). Taylor filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on October 3, 1994. Taylor v. Florida, 115 S.Ct. 99 (1994). On November 1, 1995, Appellant filed a shell motion entitled Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend, raising a total of forty-five (45) claims for relief (PCR 1-2). On June 23, 2003, Appellant filed a Supplemental Motion to Vacate Judgments of Convictions and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend, raising one (1) claim for relief (PCR 520-523). On May 13, 2004, Appellant filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Convictions and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend, raising thirty-two (32) grounds (PCR 557-690). On May 23, 2005,

Appellant filed a Motion for Postconviction Relief to Vacate

Judgment of Conviction and Sentence by a Person under the

Sentence of Death and Incorporated Memorandum of Law,

raising twenty-one (21) grounds¹.

The State filed Responses on July 15, 2003; June 14, 2004; June 23, 2004; and June 6, 2005. On December 13, 2005, the Trial Court conducted a Huff hearing and issued an Order on June 15, 2006, stating that an evidentiary hearing was required as to Claims IV and VI (excluding the ineffective assistance of counsel claims in paragraphs 7 and 13), Claims X and XI (excluding the Ake claim), and Claim IX.

_

¹ Claims asserted in Amended 3.850 Motion are: (1) access to records, (2) production of records, (3) trial attorney file, (4) ineffective assistance of counsel - DNA, (5) prosecutor's comments, (6) ineffective assistance of counsel - Timothy Coward, (7) instruction regarding experts - withdrawn at evidentiary hearing, (8) instruction on reasonable doubt - withdrawn at evidentiary hearing, (9) ineffective assistance at penalty phase - withdrawn at evidentiary hearing, (10) prosecutor's prepared sentencing order - withdrawn at evidentiary hearing based on prosecutor's assertion, (11) ineffective experts, (12) prior mental retardation ruling, (13) Ring issue, (14) prosecutor comment on requirement of death - withdrawn at evidentiary hearing, (15) burden shifting, (16) responsibility of jury, (17) instruction on pecuniary gain aggravator, (18) failure to acknowledge mitigation withdrawn at evidentiary hearing, (19) automatic aggravator, (20) electrocution and lethal injection unconstitutional, and (21) Apprendi issue.

Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1993).

On July 18, 2007, the Appellant filed a Motion for Leave to Amend Claim XII, Amended Claim XII, and Motion to take Judicial Notice. On July 30, 2007, the Trial Court issued an Order granting the Appellant's Motion to take Judicial Notice and the Motion for Leave to Amend Claim XII. On August 1, 2007, the State filed a Response opposing the Defendant's Motion.

On August 6 and 7, 2007, an evidentiary hearing was held on Claims IV and VI (excluding the ineffective assistance of counsel claims in paragraphs 7 and 13), Claims X and XI (excluding the <u>Ake</u> claim), and Claim IX. At the beginning of the August 6, 2007, evidentiary hearing, Appellant asked the Court to withdraw from its consideration Claims VI paragraphs 2-8, VII, VIII, IX, X, XIV, and XVIII. (PCR 7-9).

On September 10, 2007, the State filed their closing argument (PCR 1782). The Appellant filed his closing argument on September 12, 2007 (PCR 1842). On October 5, 2007, the State filed a Motion to Strike and Objection to Defendant's Written Closing Argument and Memorandum of Law (PCR 1916). Appellant filed his Response to State's Motion to Strike and Objections and Motion to Amend the Pleadings to Conform with the Evidence (PCR 1923). The State

subsequently filed their Opposing Motion to Amend the Pleadings to Conform with the Evidence (PCR 1928).

Appellant filed his reply on October 12, 2007 (PCR 1939).

On June 22, 2009, the trial court entered its order denying Appellant's postconviction motion (PCR 2024). On June 26, 2009, the trial court filed its order granting the State's Motion to Strike Appellant's closing arguments and denied Appellant's Motion to Amend the Pleadings to Conform with the Evidence (PCR 2066). The Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on July 14, 2007 (PCR 2068). The Appellant filed his Motion for Rehearing on July 31, 2007 (PCR 2072). The trial declined ruling on the Motion for Rehearing for Lack of Jurisdiction (PCR 2082). On August 11, 2009, Appellant filed a Motion to Relinquish Jurisdiction in this Court, which was denied on October 9, 2009.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Court set out the record facts on direct appeal as follows:

The record reflects that on September 15, 1990, at about 11:30 p.m., the victim, fifty-nine-year-old Alice Vest, returned to her mobile home in Jacksonville after spending the evening with a friend. Earlier that evening, the appellant, Steven Richard Taylor, and two friends were out driving and listening to the radio. Around midnight, the driver of the car dropped off Taylor and his friend, who was later to become his accomplice, near the victim's neighborhood. Sometime in the early morning hours of

September 16, a Ford Ranchero was stolen from a residence near the place where Taylor had been dropped off. At about 4:30 a.m., after the vehicle had been stolen, a passing motorist noticed the Ford Ranchero parked in a driveway next door to the mobile home where the victim lived. Later that morning, the Ford Ranchero was found abandoned behind a used car dealership only a few blocks from where Taylor lived at the time.

On the same morning, neighbors discovered the victim's battered body in the bedroom of her mobile home. The medical examiner testified that the victim had been stabbed approximately twenty times, strangled, and sexually assaulted. The medical examiner further testified that most of the stab wounds were made with a knife found at the scene of the crime, while the remaining stab wounds were made with a pair of scissors that were also found at the scene. The medical examiner stated that the victim was alive while she was being stabbed, that she was strangled with an electrical cord, and that the strangulation had occurred after the victim was stabbed.

The medical examiner also testified that the victim's lower jaw had multiple fractures and that she had received several blows to her head. The examiner testified that the fractures of the victim's jaw could have resulted from being struck with a broken bottle found on the bed next to the victim, and that contusions to the victim's head were consistent with being struck by a metal bar and candlestick also found at the scene. Finally, the medical examiner testified that the victim's breasts were bruised, and that the bruises resulted from "impacting, sucking, or squeezing" while she was alive. In the medical examiner's opinion, the victim was alive at most ten minutes from the first stabbing to the strangulation. On cross-examination, the examiner stated that he did not know whether the victim was conscious during all or any part of the attack.

The testimony at trial also revealed that the phone line to the mobile home had been cut, that the home had been burglarized, and that various pieces of jewelry were missing.

In December of 1990, Taylor moved out of the duplex he had been sharing with a friend. In January, 1991, while Taylor's former roommate was removing a fence behind the duplex, he discovered a small plastic bag buried in the ground near the fence. The bag contained the pieces of jewelry taken from the victim's home during the attack and burglary. The roommate turned the jewelry over to the police and gave a statement. Later that month, Taylor visited the duplex with some friends. The former roommate testified that, at some point during the visit, Taylor went into the backyard and stared at the place where the fence had stood. During the following month, Taylor again returned to the duplex with friends. One of the accompanying friends testified that Taylor went into the backyard and returned a few minutes later with dirty hands. In response to the friend's inquiry as to what he was doing, Taylor allegedly responded that he had left some things there and that they were gone.

On February 14, 1991, the Duval County sheriff's office executed a search warrant on Taylor which authorized the officers to take blood, saliva, and hair samples from Taylor. Taylor was taken to the nurses' station at the county jail so that the samples could be taken, but not before Taylor invoked his right to counsel. Later that day, after the samples were taken, Taylor asked the investigating officer how long it would take to get the results back. Instead of directly responding to the question, the investigating officer asked Taylor why he wanted to know. Taylor responded that he was just wondering when they would be back out to pick him up. Taylor did not have long to wait. Two days later, on February 16, Taylor was arrested, and, on March 3, a grand jury returned a two-count indictment against Taylor for first-degree murder and burglary. The indictment was amended on September 12, 1991, to add a third count for sexual battery.

At trial, the State presented the testimony of Timothy Cowart, who had shared a cell with Taylor in the Duval County jail. Cowart testified that, in a jailhouse conversation with Taylor in early April, Taylor stated that he had been

involved in a burglary and that it was a messy job; that the lady surprised him inside the trailer; and that he stabbed her and choked her and then strangled her with a cord to make sure she was dead. Cowart also testified that Taylor said the State could place him, but not his accomplice, at the scene of the crime, and that the State could convict him with the evidence it had. Taylor allegedly asked Cowart to hide a gun and handcuff key in the bathroom at the hospital; Taylor would then feign an illness, get taken to the hospital, and have a chance to escape.

A Florida Department of Law Enforcement lab analyst, who was an expert in serology, testified that semen found on a bed covering and on a vaginal swab taken from the victim could not be tested. However, the analyst testified that semen found in the victim's blouse matched Taylor's DNA profile.

In the guilt phase, Taylor presented only one witness, an agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. The agent testified that certain hairs found on the victim's body and clothing matched the pubic hairs of Taylor's accomplice. On cross-examination, the agent conceded that it is possible to commit a sexual battery and not leave any fibers or hair. Taylor then rested his case and the jury found him guilty as charged.

However, as described below, additional facts were established at the evidentiary hearing that were not presented at the original trial.

Pre-Trial and Trial -

The guilt phase of Appellant's trial began on October 7, 1991. Before trial, the Defense filed a demand for discovery on March 12, 1991 (R 10-13). In paragraph 1 of the demand for discovery, counsel requested all names and addresses of persons known to the prosecutor to have

information that may be relevant to the offense charged and to any defense with respect thereto (R 10).

At paragraph 10 in the demand for discovery, counsel requested: reports or statements of experts made in connection with this particular case, including reports of evidence technicians and crime lab personnel; and results of physical or mental examinations, as well as results of scientific tests, experiments, or comparisons (R 12).

At paragraph 12 of the demand for discovery, counsel requested material that tends to negate the accused's guilt of the offense charged (R 12).

Prior to trial, Defense filed a Motion for Production of Favorable Evidence on September 26, 1991, specifically requesting any and all evidence "which may reasonably be considered admissible and useful to the defense in the sense that it is probably material and exculpatory, regardless of the fact that such evidence or information is the fruit of the work product of the prosecutor." (R 115).

The State's last response to demand for discovery was filed on September 26, 1991 (PCE Vol. II, p224-225). None of the six responses list Shirley Zeigler (FDLE analyst), Paul Dohlan (FDLE supervisor), or the name of the individual with the initials TMW (these initials appear on the page entitled PROBINGS on State's Exhibit 7). In

addition, Defense Exhibit 17, FBI/FDLE protocol (PCE Vol. III, p451-485), was not provided to the defense. These protocols established that Dr. Pollock changed the protocol and/or violated the protocol in his conclusions.

At Dr. Pollock's deposition on September 4, 1991 (PCE Vol. I, p69-109), Pollock fails to mention Shirley Zeigler or the identity of the person with the initials TMW. The only document defense counsel referenced during Dr. Pollock's deposition was Dr. Pollock's report, which was generated on July 17, 1991 (PCE Vol. I, p110-111).

Dr. Goldman (Defense DNA expert) was appointed on September 20, 1991. Dr. Goldman did not testify at trial because he was unavailable. In addition, Dr. Goldman did not receive all of the FDLE DNA documents or FDLE protocols.

Evidentiary Hearing -

DNA and \underline{Frye}^4 - At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Tassone (Appellant's trial counsel) indicated he believed that Mr. de la Rionda (Assistant State Attorney), at his request, wrote to Dr. Pollock (PCE Vol. I, p16, 17) requesting the following items: copies of the autoradiograms, population database, case file, photographs of the DNA gels as well as description of the database and procedures used to obtain

⁴ Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

the DNA results. In addition, Mr. Tassone's Motion for Continuance states that Dr. Goldman hadn't received Dr. Pollock's case notes until on or after October 3, 1991 (R 61). Mr. Tassone's billing records (PCE Vol. III, p388-392) indicate that he had a one-and-a-quarter hour conversation with Dr. Goldman on October 1, 1991.

On October 4, 1991, Mr. Tassone filed his Second Motion for Continuance (R 161) indicating, among other things, that Dr. Goldman did not have enough time to prepare his report or findings and could not attend the trial scheduled for October 7, 1991. This Motion was filed after Mr. Tassone spoke with Dr. Goldman on October 1, 1991. A hearing was conducted on the Motion for Continuance on October 4, 1991 (PCE Vol. I, p388-492). At that hearing, Mr. Tassone informed the Court that he did not intend to call Dr. Goldman as a witness based upon the information he (Mr. Tassone) had received up to a week before the hearing. However, Mr. Tassone indicated that he might need to speak with Dr. Goldman telephonically during the trial. On October 7, 1991, the day of trial, Mr. Tassone withdrew his Motion for Continuance (PCE Vol. III, p386-387). The record is silent as to whether Mr. Tassone ever spoke with Dr. Goldman during the trial.

Mr. Tassone testified (PCR 1371, 1373) the records indicated to him the first time he heard the name "Shirley Zeigler" was during Dr. Pollock's cross-examination during trial (PCR 1371, 1373); at that point of the trial, Dr. Pollock identified the initials SFZ (R 607) on the Calculated Fragment Lengths Report⁵ (PCE Vol. I, p61-64) as being Shirley Zeigler. Mr. Tassone testified that neither the State's witness list, nor his witness list, contained Shirley Zeigler's name (PCR 1369).

In addition, Mr. Tassone testified that the records referenced in Defense Exhibit 5⁶ probably weren't produced until after September 27, 1991, because he wouldn't have made a second request if they were in his possession (PCR 1375, 1377). Moreover, Mr. Tassone's Motion for Continuance shows he only received the case notes on or after October 3, 1991. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Tassone testified that he would have wanted to know before trial that another

⁵ Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary, 1991 defines report as "to give an account; to make a written record or summary."

⁶ The records requested in Defense Exhibit 5 were audioradiograms, the population database, case file, photographs of the DNA gels, a description of the database, and the procedures used to obtain the DNA results. Neither trial counsel's expert nor postconviction counsel's expert was ever able to review the originals of the audioradiograms. Dr. Libby wanted to resize the bands, but was unable to without the originals.

FDLE analyst disagreed with Dr. Pollock's opinions regarding a match on the probes (PCR 1380). At the evidentiary hearing, Shirley Zeigler testified two probes were inconclusive: D1S7 and D4S139 - (PCR 1266-1267). Additionally, Zeigler testified that if Dr. Pollock stated they were a match, that such testimony would be a violation of protocol (PCR 1266). At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Libby (Defense DNA expert) testified that three of the four probes utilized by Dr. Pollock were inconclusive: D1S7 (PCR 1544, 1632-1634), D4S139 (PCR 1548-1549) and D17S79 (PCR 1521). In addition, Dr. Libby testified that the FBI utilizes five to eight probes, while Pollock only utilizes four probes (PCR 1505). Further, Dr. Libby testified that he visited an FBI facility and found the database unreliable (PCR 1554). One reason Dr. Libby found the FBI database unreliable was the differences in the calculated lengths between analysts (PCR 1470-1471).

Mr. Tassone testified that based upon the information that was provided to Dr. Goldman, Dr. Goldman didn't have any complaints with FDLE's testing process (PCR 387).

However, Mr. Tassone also testified that this was his first DNA case, and if he had been provided with all of the

 $^{^{7}}$ FDLE protocols indicate that the commercial kits show five probes. One was crossed out on the protocol.

State's evidence in sufficient time for the trial, he would have made sure Dr. Goldman was there to properly and thoroughly impeach Dr. Pollock's trial testimony (PCR 1387-1391).

For example, Dr. Goldman did not know that Dr. Pollock changed the FBI protocols. Dr. Pollock testified at trial, "I have found that it's not necessarily a better protocol" (R 606). Dr. Goldman did not know that Dr. Pollock also took it upon himself to cross out the FBI protocol that states: base pairs in excess of 10,094 are inconclusive (PCE 471). In addition, Dr. Goldman did not speak with Mr. Tassone regarding the validity of the population database or about the calculated fragment lengths (PCR 1387-1389). Finally, Mr. Tassone did not speak with Dr. Goldman about Shirley Zeigler's finding that two probes were inconclusive, because Mr. Tassone didn't know she existed, nor did he have possession of necessary documents at the time he spoke with Dr. Goldman.

Mr. Taylor's case was Mr. Tassone's first DNA case (PCR 1393). In addition, counsel was not knowledgeable about Frye hearings, and he did not research the issue (PCR 1393). Mr. Tassone testified that he "probably" didn't know that novel science was subject to a Frye test (PCR 1395). In addition, Mr. Tassone testified: "I do not recall doing

any research or having any knowledge about the Frye test at the time of Mr. Taylor's case (PCR 1398)."

Mr. Tassone testified: "Based on what I read of the ABA guidelines and what in my opinion has been adopted by the United States Supreme court in Rompilla versus Beard⁸ I should have asked for a Frye test." (PCR 1397).

Mr. Tassone testified that he would have wanted Shirley Ziegler's findings, specifically that she found two of the four DNA probes were inconclusive (PCR 1380-1383). Mr. Tassone testified Dr. Goldman did not visit the FDLE lab or review their procedures (PCR 1388), Mr. Tassone had no recollection whether he spoke with Dr. Goldman about Dr. Pollock's deposition (PCR 1388). Mr. Tassone had not requested nor received FDLE lab protocols and neither Mr. Tassone nor Dr. Goldman knew about Shirley Zeigler or her opinion prior to trial (PCR 1389). Mr. Tassone testified that he probably didn't inform Dr. Goldman about the Frye requirements when he requested Dr. Goldman's opinion (PCR 1398). Mr. Tassone had no recollection about discussing databases with Dr. Goldman (PCR 1398-1399). Mr. Tassone did not request or see any analyst proficiency tests, but would have wanted to see them (PCR 1401, 1404). Mr. Tassone testified that the court admitted Dr. Pollock as an expert

⁸ Rompilla v. Beard, No. 04-5482 (6/20/2005)(S.Ct. 2005)

in DNA analysis and serology, but he was not admitted for statistics or databases (PCR 1404-1405). Mr. Tassone acknowledged that although Dr. Pollock, in fact, testified about statistics, he did not object (PCR 1405).

At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Pollock was asked by the State whether the DNA testing methodology he set up at FDLE "adhered to acceptable methodology that was used in the scientific community, in the forensic scientific community?" Dr. Pollock responded, "Well, not precisely what we were doing in Florida, but the general FBI procedure was generally accepted, yes." (PCR 1698)(emphasis added). After acknowledging the FBI methodology was generally accepted, Dr. Pollock testified, "So in my procedure I crossed out that part of the FBI procedure where it says above 10 KB not interpreted..." (PCR 1686).

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