IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEPHEN RICHARD TAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC09-1382

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

shortly before and during the trial," he adds nothing specific to his previous discussion of Zeigler, Dr. Pollock, and FDLE protocols, which have been discussed in the foregoing pages here. Thus, Taylor has not demonstrated that "Dr. Pollock's testimony was false" at all or that his trial testimony could have been "impeached" by Zeigler (IB 54-55).

Finally but also importantly, concerning all of ISSUE II's claims, Taylor bore the burden of demonstrating that the result of the DNA testing admitted at trial was actually incorrect in a material way. He needed to prove that, rather than the 1 in 6 million odds introduced at trial, no number would have been appropriate or that a materially different number would have been appropriate. <u>Cf. Reed v. State</u>, 875 So.2d 415, 425, 427 (Fla. 2004)(IAC claims; "we find that the circuit court did not err in concluding that trial counsel's consultation with an independent serologist would not have changed the statistical numbers in any way"; " circuit court correctly noted that Reed failed to present evidence indicating that Scott's identification of the print was in error"). Again, Taylor failed to meet his burden.

For all of the foregoing reasons, Taylor has failed to demonstrate that the State withheld anything that was material and that would have made any difference in the outcome. Indeed, although memories faded some from the 1991 vintage of the trial proceedings, what remains clear is that the State provided pertinent information, and defense counsel Tassone used that information consulting with the defense expert, Dr. Goldman, and conducting very competent voir dire and cross-examination of Dr. Pollock at trial.

## ISSUE III: HAS TAYLOR DEMONSTRATED BOTH <u>STRICKLAND</u> IAC PRONGS BASED ON ALLEGED DEFICIENCIES IN CHALLENGING THE DNA AT TRIAL? (IB 55-76, RESTATED)

In ISSUE III, Taylor claims that the trial court erred in denying his IAC claim alleging that trial defense counsel Mr. Tassone failed to competently challenge the DNA results. (IB 55-75) He claims that, if Mr. Tassone had been competent, he could have excluded the DNA and the guilty verdict would have been different" (IB 75-76).

#### A. The trial court's order.

The trial court rejected Taylor's IAC claim pertaining to the DNA. The trial court's order reviewed IAC law (PCR/XI 2029-30), summarized Claim IV and its subclaims (PCR/XI 2032), and then found that the IAC "subclaims" of "Claim IV" pertaining to the DNA did not support postconviction relief:

# Subclaim 1: Ineffective Assistance for Failing to File and Litigate a Frye Motion

In subclaim 1, the Defendant claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to file and litigate a motion in limine pursuant to *Frye*[FN11].Specifically, the Defendant claims that trial counsel failed to challenge the admissibility of the DNA evidence pursuant to *Frye* and failed to object to Dr. Pollack being allowed to testify as an expert witness.

To the extent the Defendant claims ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to litigate a matter regarding the admissibility of evidence, this claim is procedurally barred as an impermissible attempt to circumvent the direct appeal procedural bar. See Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 919 (Fla. 2000) ('Arbelaez may not relitigate procedurally barred claims by couching them in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel.'); Johnson v. Wainwright, 463 So.2d 207, 212 (Fla. 1985) (finding that 'matters that should have been and, if properly protested and preserved for appeal, could have been raised by the initial appeal ... are not proper ground for relief by motion to vacate under rule 3.850.').

To the extent the Defendant claims that trial counsel failed to challenge the admissibility of the DNA evidence pursuant to the Defendant's claim is denied. In his motion for post conviction relief the Defendant's reliance on cases such as Hayes, Brim, and Murray[FN12] is misplaced, as those cases involved direct appeals of Frye claims and not ineffective assistance of counsel claims based on the failure to litigate a issue. As pointed out by the Defendant, a more instructive case is Armstrong v. State, 862 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2003), in which Armstrong (as the Defendant here) claimed in a Rule 3.850 motion that his counsel was ineffective for failing to ask for a hearing. In Armstrong, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's order denying Armstrong's Rule 3.850 motion and quoted the trial court's reasoning, that 'any refinements or additions to the Frye analysis which have evolved since the trial, sub judice, cannot be applied in evaluating the effectiveness of trial coursel's performance. *id.* at 713 (citations omitted). The Florida Supreme Court also noted:

This trial occurred in 1991, six years prior to this court's clarification of the test in *Brim v. State*, 695 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1997), that each stage of the DNA process, i.e., the methodology for determining DNA profiles, as well as the statistical calculations used to report the test results, are subject to the *Frye* test. Armstrong's counsel cannot be ineffective for not demanding the satisfaction of a more complex test than was required by the law at the time of the trial.

*Id.* at 713 n. 7 (emphasis added). The reasoning from Armstrong applies equally to the Defendant's claim here. Mr. Tassone 'cannot be ineffective for not demanding the satisfaction of a more complex test than was required by the law' at the time of Taylor's trial in 1991. *Id.* 

This Court also declines the Defendant's suggestion that Brim should be applied retroactively. In Brim, the Florida Supreme Court held that the Frye test should be applied in determining whether to admit population frequency statistics of DNA. See Brim, 695 So.2d at 271. The Florida Supreme Court has specifically held that Brim is simply 'a clarification of the Frye test' and that 'Brim has never been held to apply retroactively.' Cherry v. State, 959 So.2d 702, 710 (Fla. 2007); see also Armstrong, 862 So.2d at 713. Subclaim 1 is denied.

## Subclaim 2: Ineffective Assistance for Failing to Challenge DNA and Serology Evidence

The Defendant avers that Mr. Tassone provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to challenge the DNA and serology evidence at trial. A review of the record shows otherwise. In preparation for trial, Mr. Tassone asked the trial court to appoint Dr. David Goldman, as an expert witness to assist Mr. Tassone at trial. At the time, Dr. Goldman was a professor at the National Institute of Health (NIH), and Chief of the Section on Genetic Studies. (R. 87; T.T. at 605.) The trial court granted the Defendant's motion in an Order entered on September 20, 1991. (R. 87) Mr. Tassone testified at the evidentiary hearing that he consulted with Dr. Goldman in preparation for trial, and that the substance of their conversations provided enough ammunition for Mr. Tassone to effectively cross examine the State's expert, Dr. James Pollack. (P.C. Vol. II at 253-54, 279.) Mr. Tassone also deposed Dr. Pollack on September 4, 1991. (State's Ex. 7.)

At trial, when the State tendered Dr. Pollack as an expert witness in DNA analysis, Mr. Tassone asked the trial court for permission to voir dire Dr. Pollack as to his qualifications as an expert. (T.T. at 556.) During voir dire, Mr. Tassone asked Dr. Pollack about his limited experience being qualified as an expert in DNA analysis (T.T. at 55-56), the lack of "quality control analysis" of Dr. Pollack's laboratory by an outside agency (T.T. at 564-68), and the potential for human error in the laboratory analysis of DNA fragments (T.T. at 567-68). At the end of voir dire, Mr. Tassone would not "stipulate to Dr. Pollack's qualifications for the reasons given his responses to examination." (T.T. at 569.) The trial court disagreed and found Dr. Pollack qualified to be an expert on forensic serology and DNA analysis. (Id.)

During cross examination, Mr. Tassone vigorously questioned Dr. Pollack on the reliability and methodology of his DNA results including: the potential for human error in the analysis of DNA (T.T. at 596-97); the subjectiveness of the quantity and quality of DNA being examined (T.T. at 596-97); the subjectiveness of the amount of enzyme used to cut the DNA and the potential for human error (T.T. at 597-98); the subjectiveness in the separation of DNA fragments and the potential for human error (T.T. at 599); the fact that the population database employed by Dr. Pollack did not account for the percentage of people in the population, though small, who have more than two DNA bands (T.T. at 600); the fact that the Texas and Florida databases included individuals with three DNA bands (T.T. at 600-01); that as to the DNA autoradiogram of probe D1S7, the bands were too faint to use pursuant to FBI standards (T.T. at 604-05); that it was unclear whether Dr. Pollack used the old or the newly revised FBI protocols (revised in December 1990, but which were not released to Dr. Pollack until February 1991) (T.T. at 606-07); that the match criteria for Life Codes and Celimark was within 1%, while the match criteria for Dr. Pollack's lab was within 2.5% (T.T. at 608-11); and that as to locus D17S79 (which contains the most commonness throughout the population), one band for the victim and the Defendant was the same size (T.T. at 616-618). In summary, Mr. Tassone's pretrial investigation and cross examination of Dr. Pollack sought to discredit Dr. Pollack's testimony, and by extension, Dr. Pollack's DNA analysis, by showing that his methodology and quality control were lacking:

Mr. Tassone: So you're the cutter, you're the extractor and you're the person who decided whether it's obvious, is that correct?

Dr. Pollack: Yes

(T.T. at 598.)

As to the serology evidence, \*\*\* [not contested in this issue]

At the evidentiary hearing, the Defendant presented Dr. Randall Libby to testify as to what he perceived as problems with the manner in which Dr. Pollack handled and examined the DNA evidence. (P.C. Vol. II at 3 16-57, 363-400; P.C. Vol. III at 401-520.) The Court considered Dr. Libby's lengthy and detailed testimony as well as Dr. Libby's experience and credentials. The Court notes that while Dr. Libby was quite critical of the methodology and process employed by Dr. Pollack to examine the DNA evidence in the Defendant's case, Dr. Libby is not trained in forensic DNA, has never worked in a forensic DNA lab, and is not a member of the "Technical Working Group on DNA Analysis Methods" (TWGDAM). (P.C. Vol. III at 430-3 1, 465, 532-33.) Rather, Dr. Libby's experience is as a non-tenured, neurogeneticist at the University of Washington dealing with implications for human DNA. (P.C. Vol. III at 432-33.) The Court is not convinced that Dr. Libby had the requisite background and experience in forensic DNA for this Court to give his testimony considerable weight.

Consequently, this Court finds that the record supports that Mr. Tassone did not commit error as defined by *Strickland*, and that Mr. Tassone adequately challenged the serology and DNA evidence in the Defendant's case. Consequently, Subclaim 2 is denied

[FN11] Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

[FN12] Hayes v. State, 660 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1995); Brim v. State, 695 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1997); Murray v. State, 692 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1997).

(PCR/XI 2033-37)

#### B. Application of standard of review: ISSUE III does not merit relief.

As discussed in the "Ineffective Assistance of Counsel (IAC) Burdens" section <u>supra</u>, to prevail on an IAC claim, Taylor must prove both <u>Strickland</u> deficiency prong and <u>Strickland</u> prejudice prong; hindsight is inappropriate; and there is a strong presumption against a defendant. (<u>See</u> also trial court's summary of Strickland law at PCR/XI 2029-30)

The State submits that the trial court's order facially merits

affirmance.

Also as discussed <u>supra</u>, in reviewing a trial court's order, its factual findings are entitled to appellate deference where it is supported by competent substantial evidence. Here, the trial court observed Dr. Libby testify at the postconviction evidentiary hearing and essentially decided to not rely on his testimony (<u>See</u> PCR/XI 2037). Therefore, Taylor's attempted reliance (IB 61 n.13, 63, 70, 72-74) on Libby's testimony is misplaced.

The State now addresses each of what appear to be Taylor's primary IAC contentions seriatim, in roughly the same order as Taylor argues them.<sup>10</sup>

Taylor contends (IB 56-57) that the trial court's reasoning on procedural bar is incorrect. However, Taylor does not address the trial court's citations as applicable authority to <u>Arbelaez</u> and <u>Johnson</u>. Nevertheless, in the ensuing pages of the trial court also addressed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The State does not address Taylor's listing of what he contends were claims in his pleading because unless Taylor, as the non-prevailing party below, averred a claim and supported it with evidence, it was not preserved below, and unless the claim is also sufficiently argued on appeal, it is not preserved at the appellate level, See, e.g., Bryant v. State, 901 So.2d 810, 827-28 (Fla. 2005)(cursory appellate claim waived); Whitfield v. State, 923 So.2d 375, 379 (Fla. 2005)("we summarily affirm because Whitfield presents merely conclusory arguments"); Hall v. State, 823 So.2d 757, 763 (Fla.2002) ("Hall made no argument regarding equal protection in his initial brief; thus, he is procedurally barred from making this argument in his reply brief."); Lawrence v. State, 831 So.2d 121, 133 (Fla. bare claim is 2002)("Lawrence complains, in a single sentence ... unsupported by argument); Sweet v. State, 810 So.2d 854, 870 (Fla. 2002)("Sweet simply recites these claims from his postconviction motion in a sentence or two"; unpreserved)(citing Shere v. State, 742 So.2d 215, 217 n. 6 (Fla. 1999); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849, 851-52 (Fla. 1990)).

IAC claim as such.

Taylor (IB 57) seems to recognize the prohibition against retroactively applying standards to a defense counsel as discussed in <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 862 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2003). <u>BUT</u> then, as the State will discuss in the ensuing pages, Taylor repeatedly violates that <u>Strickland</u> principle of prohibiting the "distorting effects of hindsight." To be clear, <u>Armstrong</u> is on point. <u>Armstrong</u>, 862 So.2d at 713, rejected a <u>Frye</u>-based claim against trial counsel concerning its 1991 trial:

We further note the error in Armstrong's assertion that his trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to challenge more specific elements of DNA testing, such as autoradiograms and population substructuring, through a *Frye* hearing. This trial occurred in 1991, six years prior to this Court's clarification of the *Frye* test in *Brim v. State*, 695 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1997), that each stage of the DNA process, i.e., the methodology for determining DNA profiles, as well as the statistical calculations used to report the test results, are subject to the *Frye* test. Armstrong's trial counsel cannot be found ineffective for not demanding the satisfaction of a more complex test than was required by the law at the time of trial.

<u>See also Bradley</u>, 2010 WL 26522, \*13 (revised opinion; "counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to predict a later Supreme Court decision")(<u>citing Muhammad</u>); <u>Lewis</u>, 838 So.2d at 1122 ("appellate counsel is not considered ineffective for failing to anticipate a change in law"); <u>Nelms</u>, 596 So.2d at 442 (counsel not responsible for case law decided three years later); <u>compare Fretwell</u>, 506 U.S. 364 (<u>Strickland</u>'s prohibition against evaluating trial defense counsel's performance based on hindsight is a protection for counsel).

Taylor argues (IB 57-59) that, under an IAC theory, this Court on appeal should award him the same result as in the direct appeal in Murray

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